1959

Herbert B. Maw, Wendell B. Hammond and George K. Fadel v. Brack Howard Noble and Ann C. Noble : Brief of Defendants and Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The above entitled matter was tried, without a jury, on the 25th day of May, 1959. From a judgment in the sum of \$11,250.58 in favor of the plaintiffs, the defendants appeal. This matter arose over the question of attorney fees. In 1955 the defendants, as owners of land located on the Salt Lake-Davis County lines, were named as party defendants in a

condemnation suit by the State of Utah who sought to condemn their land for the use of a highway. The defendants retained the services of Herbert B. Maw, one of the above named plaintiffs, to represent them in the litigation. Subsequently, at the defendants' request, George Fadel and Wendell B. Hammond were associated in the case. Shortly thereafter an "Agreement for Employment of Attorneys" was entered into between the above named parties. A copy of the employment agreement is attached to this brief and marked Appendix A.

After a protracted litigation, the Supreme Court of Utah affirmed a judgment in favor of the defendants in the sum of \$140,000.00. On March 11, 1959, the State of Utah paid over to the defendants all amounts due under the judgment which had not been paid prior thereto, the total amount being \$169,521.07. This sum represented the principal amount of the judgment of \$140,000.00, and accumulated interest dating from the time of taking in 1955 in the sum of \$29,521.07. The state, in making payment to the defendants, named the plaintiffs as joint payees of the final settlement check. Thereafter the plaintiffs submitted to the defendants a statement of the division of the judgment paid by the State of Utah (Exhibit No. 12). The plaintiffs asserted that the interest amounting to \$29,521.07 was a part of the recovery and therefore was to be prorated out in accordance with the agreement of employment, which in this case made one-half of the interest payable to the attorneys as fees. The defendants contended that the interest was to be divided, pro-rata, between the plaintiffs and the defendants, based upon what each was entitled to of the \$140,000.00 under the employment contract. The

defendants rejected the accounting of the plaintiffs, who thereupon refused to surrender the check to the defendants for the balance due from the State of Utah. The plaintiffs immediately commenced a suit, and upon stipulation between counsel the check was cashed and \$12,000.00 of said check was deposited with the Clerk of Court pending the outcome of the suit. The balance of the moneys received from the check were paid to plaintiffs and defendants as their interest appeared under the agreement.

The plaintiffs in their complaint alleged that \$1,975.00 collected by the defendants some two years before as settlement of a condemnation suit in Davis County, Utah, was subject to the contract and therefore they were entitled to \$987.50 of that amount. This assertion was not contained in the accounting submitted by the attorneys before filing suit. The defendants filed an answer to the plaintiffs' complaint and counterclaimed, alleging that the defendants were entitled to interest on certain sums advanced the plaintiffs as advance attorney fees.

The plaintiffs maintained at the trial that the interest accumulated since the taking of the property above referred to, including the interest on the \$80,000.00 which was exempt under the terms of the contract, was a part of the judgment, and therefore divisible under the agreement by and between the parties herein.

On the other hand, the defendants contended that the interest accumulated on the \$80,000.00 exempt under the terms of the agreement was not a part of the judgment, and therefore plaintiffs could not and should not participate and divide

that interest.

Further, the defendants asserted and contended that the interest over and above that on the \$80,000.00 should be divided by and between the parties herein upon the basis of the proportion of the principal, to-wit, \$140,000.00, to which each was entitled.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT ONE

A contract of employment between an attorney and a client, if there is ambiguity, must as a matter of law be construed against the attorney and for the client.

POINT TWO

Interest awarded in a condemnation suit under Utah law is awarded as a matter of right and not as a matter of judicial discretion.

POINT THREE

A contingent fee contract which excludes \$80,000.00 from the computation of attorney fees, likewise, as a matter of law, excludes the accrued interest upon that amount.

POINT FOUR

A contingent fee contract for attorneys fees which is based upon obtaining compensation for land being condemned does not include as part of the recovery the interest paid as an incident to the recovery.

POINT FIVE

Defendants are entitled to interest on all sums advanced

plaintiffs from the time of the advance until time when plaintiffs were entitled to attorney fees.

ARGUMENT POINT ONE

A CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT BETWEEN AN ATTORNEY AND A CLIENT, IF THERE IS AMBIGUITY, MUST AS A MATTER OF LAW BE CONSTRUED AGAINST THE ATTORNEY AND FOR THE CLIENT.

The annotator writing in 2 ALR 844 sets forth the general law of the American courts in the opening paragraph of his work in stating:

"It is a general law that, on account of the confidential relation between them, contracts made between an attorney and a client, after the relation has been established, are to be construed against the attorney."

It is undisputed that this contract was entered into some months after the employment of the plaintiff attorneys by the defendants to protect their interests and defend them in the suit filed by the State of Utah condemning their land. (R. 23, R. 29, Exhibit 1-D, Exhibit 2-P) State of Utah v. Noble, ___ U. ___ P2d ___,

The ambiguity which is contained within this contract is whether or not interest should become a part of the "amount recovered" and be divided as set forth in the contract, or whether or not the interest should be divided prorata between the parties based upon what each party is entitled to based upon the principal amount recovered, which was \$140,000.00.

The California courts in speaking on the subject of attorney-client contracts where there is an ambiguity as to the

intent of the parties, stated in the case of *Pinto v. Seely*, 22 Cal. App. 318, 135 P. 43:

"It may be conceded that in construing contracts between attorneys and clients concerning compensation, in which there is any ambiguity as to the intent of the parties, it is the rule, generally accepted by the courts, to adopt such a construction of the contract as will be most favorable to the interests of the client."

The federal courts in addition to the state courts have adopted the rule that where doubtful or ambiguous language in an agreement for fees has been used the agreement must be construed most favorably to the client. *Waugh et al. v. Q & C Co. et al.*, CCA 7th, (1926) 16 F.2d 363. Other authorities citing the general rule are: 5 Am Jur 356, Attorneys at Law, Sect. 159; 7 CJS 1055, Attorney and Client, Sect. 182; Restatement of Law, Contracts, Sec. 236, p. 330.

Based upon the above cited authorities, the contract now before this court, must, as a matter of law, be construed in the light most favorable to the Nobles and against the interests of the attorneys.

A duty devolved upon the attorneys to affirmatively define what was meant by the terms "any amount recovered" and "all amounts recovered" in the contract of employment itself. Their failure to do so must be construed against them, and therefore the inclusion of interest into "all amounts recovered" is erroneous and the district court in ruling that the interest should be included was in error.

POINT TWO

INTEREST AWARDED IN A CONDEMNATION

SUIT UNDER UTAH LAW IS AWARDED AS A MATTER OF RIGHT AND NOT AS A MATTER OF JUDICIAL DISCRETION.

Interest has been defined as:

"Interest is compensation for the use or forbearance of money."

30 Am Jur 7, Interest, Sect. 2

The Utah courts recognize that interest is compensation for the use of money or property and have so held. The Supreme Court in ruling on the matter stated:

"If he had loaned the money to someone, he certainly would be entitled to interest, and if he borrowed it from someone, he would likely have to pay interest for its use. By being awarded legal interest, therefore, he is simply placed in status quo, and nothing short of this is full compensation, and that is just what the law aims to accomplish."

Feil v. Union Pacific Ry. Co.
32 U. 101, 88 P. 1003, 1005

This case was cited with approval in the condemnation suit of San Pedro, L.A. & S.L. Ry. Co. v. Board of Education of Salt Lake City, 35 U. 13, 99 P. 263, 267. This court has ruled that in a condemnation suit, interest may be given only at 6 per cent, the statutory legal rate, under 15-1-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which provides:

"Legal Rate.—The legal rate of interest for the loan or forbearance of any money, goods or things in action shall be six per cent per annum."

This was set forth in the Utah case of State v. Danielsen, 122 U. 220, 247 P.2d 900. The basis upon which the court has ruled that the 6 per cent is applicable is that until final

determination there is no judgment, and as there is a "forbearance" the statutory amount must apply.

The interest which is awarded in condemnation suits in the State of Utah is not awarded as a judicial act as such, but is awarded by the mandate of the legislature, which passed legislation which makes it mandatory to pay interest where there is a "forbearance" of money. This principle has been recognized by this court in many cases. *State v. Danielsen*, 122 U. 220, 247 P.2d 900; *State v. Peek*, 1 U.2d 263, 265 P.2d 630.

In the leading Illinois case of *Blakeslee's Storage Warehouse v. Chicago*, 369 Ill. 480, 17 NE 2d 1, 120 ALR 715, the court declared:

"In determining whether interest on a judgment is a part of it, the character of a judgment and the authority for imposing interest are important factors to be considered. A judgment is the sentence of the law pronounced by the court upon the matter contained in the record. 3 Blackstone's Com. 395. It is the law's last word in a judicial controversy and may be defined as the final consideration and determination of a court upon matters submitted to it in an action or proceeding. 15 RCL, Judgments, 569. A judgment is the judicial act of the court. *Dorman v. Usbe Building and Loan Assn.* 115 NJL 337, 180 A. 413. On the other hand the right to interest apart from contract, such as interest on a judgment, does not emanate from the controversy, or from the judgment, or from anything of a judicial nature."

In a later Illinois case of *Chapalis v. City of Chicago*, 389 Ill. 269, 59 N.E. 2d 641, the Supreme Court affirmed the *Blakeslee's* case and said:

"In the latter case (*Blakeslee's*) it was said, 'If

appellant is entitled to interest on the judgment it is not by virtue of the judgment or the judicial proceeding culminating therein, but arises solely under the provisions of the statute,"

Interest, then, awarded as a matter of right cannot be said to be a part of the "amount recovered" due to a judgment. The interest attaches, by operation of law, to the amount recovered. Therefore the right to a part of that interest depends upon the right to a part of the principal and the proportion of the principal claimed determines the proportion of the interest which goes with that principal.

POINT THREE

A CONTINGENT FEE CONTRACT WHICH EXCLUDES \$80,000.00 FROM THE COMPUTATION OF ATTORNEY FEES, LIKEWISE, AS A MATTER OF LAW, EXCLUDES THE ACCRUED INTEREST UPON THAT AMOUNT.

An examination of the contract under review (Appendix A of this brief) shows that it was the agreement between the parties that \$80,000.00 would be excluded from the contract under which the plaintiffs were to receive their compensation for legal services. Plaintiffs contend that the interest earned by this \$80,000.00 would be subject to their proportional attorneys' fees. The defendants contend that as the \$80,000.00 was excluded from the contract, so then, is the interest upon that amount.

As pointed out in Point Two of this brief, interest is awarded in condemnation suits as a matter of right and the court could not withhold the award of interest. Therefore,

the employment of legal counsel to secure this interest was not only unnecessary but was not contracted for by the parties involved.

The intent of this contract, and the legal proposition that the contract must be construed in favor of the client, clearly shows that the parties excluded from this employment contract that which was already vested, that is, the \$80,000.00, (Exhibit 1-D, R-40). The right to interest had likewise vested on this \$80,000.00 prior to the employment of the attorneys under the contract, and litigation was unnecessary to recover it; therefore it cannot be said that the interest was contemplated by either party to be a part of "any amount recovered" or "of amounts recovered." The reason for the exclusion of the \$80,000.00 from the contract was that the Nobles could collect this amount without the necessity of litigation, likewise the interest upon this amount from the time of the taking under the Order of Immediate Occupancy until paid. The intent is clear and the legal inference in favor of the client shows that the interest on the \$80,000.00 was not to be taken into account under the contract.

A similar case to the one now under review by this court arose in Tennessee in *Sanders v. Riddich*, 127 Tenn. 700, 156 S.W. 464. In that case the attorney and client entered into a contingent fee contract which provided for attorney's fees of one-third of any recovery if under \$12,000.00 and one-fourth if over \$12,000.00. Judgment was recovered in the amount of \$11,500.00, but with accrued interest the total amount collected amounted to \$12,788.00. The plaintiff in this action, the client, contended that the attorney was entitled to one-fourth

only, as the amount recovered was in excess of \$12,000.00. The Supreme Court of Tennessee rejected the claim of the client and in ruling in favor of the attorney said:

"That recovery was for less than \$12,000.00 and the rights of the attorneys attached thereto on a 1/3 basis. The interest accrued, in legal contemplation, on the respective aliquot parts."

The Arizona Supreme Court in dealing with a similar situation involving a contingent fee contract said in the case of *Covert v. Randles*, 53 Ariz. 225, 87 P.2d 488:

"We think the correct rule for construing contracts for contingent fees is well stated in 7 Corpus Juris Secundum, Attorney and Client, p. 1089, Sec. 191, as follows:

'A contingent fee is generally reckoned on the net amount actually recovered by the client through the efforts of the attorney, or through a proper settlement by the client.'

'Under a contract for a contingent fee, the percentage to which the attorney is entitled and the amount or property on which it is to be based depend on a fair and reasonable construction of the terms of the agreement; and such fee generally is recoverable only on the property or funds, within the terms of the contract, which are recovered by reason of the attorney's efforts, and, therefore, is not recoverable on uncontested claims or sums voluntarily paid.' "

Under the definition as adopted by the Arizona court, where the attorney does nothing to earn the fee he is not entitled to any part of that amount which is recovered. In the present case, the interest which is awarded by the State of Utah as a matter of right stands as a payment on an uncon-

tested claim or which is a voluntary payment by the people of the State of Utah to a citizen who has had his property taken for the public good, but who has been delayed in the receiving of the money.

The State of New York has settled the matter of the interpretation of a contingent fee contract in condemnation cases where there is difficulty in the division of the interest between attorney and client. This matter has been litigated repeatedly and the Supreme Court of New York relies upon its decision in *Bassford v. Johnson*, 172 N.Y. 488, 65 N.E. 260, in rendering its opinions. In that case certain land was being taken by condemnation. The landowner retained an attorney on a contingent fee contract which provided that the attorney was to collect as his fee "10% of whatever award may be obtained for my (Johnson's) land." A judgment was obtained and interest allowed by the court on the judgment, which interest was in excess of \$13,000.00. The defendant, Johnson, the landowner, contended that the attorney was entitled only to 10% of the judgment and none of the interest. The Supreme Court of New York ruled that the attorney was entitled to his proportional share of the interest. The court said:

"By its terms the attorney was to receive for his services 10% of whatever award may be obtained for Johnson's land. The title to the land was taken, as we have seen, by the city on the 1st day of July, 1897, and, if the award had been then made, the attorney, unquestionably would have been entitled to 10 per cent thereof and the interest thereon that thereafter accrued down to the date of the payment; but the award was not made until nearly four years thereafter. But when

made, it was for the value of the land at the time that the title was taken by the city, and therefore, so far as interest is concerned, the award is deemed to have been made of that date, so that the effect is the same as if the award had been made on that day and payment postponed for four years thereafter."

It is submitted that this is exactly the same situation in the case now before the court. The award of \$140,000.00 made by this court, *State v. Noble*, --- U. ---, --- P.2d ---, relates back to 1955 when the land in question was taken. The recovery in this case then was the amount of the award of the court. The accrued interest would attach to the respective pro rata parts of this recovery, which was divided between the attorney and client under the employment agreement. The interest, therefore, on the excluded amount of \$80,000.00 was not a part of the "amount recovered."

A case wherein a similar problem of dividing interest arose in *Smith v. Whitman*, 159 Md. 478, 150 A. 856. This case involved the taking of land by condemnation by the federal government during World War I. At the time of the taking in 1917 the government offered the landowners \$3,000.00, which was unacceptable to them. The landowners, defendants, retained the plaintiffs to fight the case for them. They entered into a contingent fee contract wherein the attorneys were to get one-third of all amounts recovered in excess of \$3,000.00. At the time of the making of the contract between the attorneys and clients, the federal government did not pay interest on land taken by condemnation for actions prosecuted through the federal court of claims. However, in 1923, during the pendency of the action, the Supreme Court of the United States, in a decision, ruled that interest would be paid from

the time of the taking of the land until entry of judgment. The attorneys for 10 years pursued the case until eventually they received a judgment for \$106,072.29, which included interest, principal and court costs. In computing the attorney fees the following method was used: The first \$3,000.00 was excluded as provided in the contract of employment, then the interest which had accrued on this \$3,000.00 likewise was excluded. This interest amounted to \$3,513.75. The attorneys then computed their fee upon the one-third basis as set forth in the contract. This method of computation was adopted by the trial court as correct. The Supreme Court of Maryland concurred with the computation method, but reversed on the grounds that even though there was no dispute as to the method employed, it was a jury's prerogative to decide this matter and not the courts.

The defendants in the case now before this court contend that the same method of computation with regard to the \$80,000.00 excluded from the contract should be employed as was done in the Smith v. Whitman case. In the present case the interest upon the \$80,000.00 amounts to the sum of \$13,865.35 (Exhibit No. 10) which, when added to the \$80,000.00, makes a total exclusion from attorneys fees of the sum of \$93,865.35.

Under the contention of the plaintiffs (attorneys), this entire amount of \$13,865.35 is subject to the contingent fee scale, which places the entire amount in the bracket of 50% attorney fees or, in other words, the interest on the \$80,000.00 excluded under the terms of the contract is divided one-half to the attorneys and one-half to the clients, or \$6,932.67 to the

attorneys as fees upon an amount excluded from the contract of employment.

It may be readily seen that it would be to the advantage of attorneys to extend as long as possible the adjudication of matters such as this where such a contract of employment exists.

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