1959

Herbert B. Maw, Wendell B. Hammond and George K. Fadel v. Brack Howard Noble and Ann C. Noble : Brief of Plaintiffs and Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondents do not controvert the statement of facts of the appellants so far as the same are stated, but the respondents desire to supplement by further statement of facts.

The property of the appellants was located partly in Davis County and partly in Salt Lake County, containing a total of 8.63 acres of land. The State Road Commission commenced two separate suits, one in Salt Lake County, Civil No. 105534, in which suit was included 8.01 acres and the other action in Davis County, Civil No. 6132, in which was included .62 acres which was owned by the appellant subject to a right of way in favor of North Salt Lake. The State Road Commission filed the action in Salt Lake County on June 30, 1955, and the action in Davis County on November 3, 1955.

The Salt Lake County case, Civil No. 105534, is exhibit "3P" in the instant action and Civil No. 6132, in Davis County, is exhibit "2P". Herbert B. Maw made an appearance in both cases for the appellants and filed an answer in the Salt Lake County case on December 12, 1955, praying for judgment on \$275,000.00 plus interest. Mr. Maw made his first appearance for the appellants in the Salt Lake County case on July 20, 1955, and in the Davis County case on November 21, 1955.

The agreement for employment of attorneys which appears as exhibit "1D" and is set forth in appendix A of appellants brief, was dated January 12, 1956.

The Salt Lake County Case was first tried before a jury who returned a verdict on April 7, 1956, of \$150,000.00 and judgment upon the verdict was entered May 14, 1956, but the cause was appealed to the Supreme Court of the

State of Utah and reversed for new trial. The second trial of the cause was before a jury who returned a verdict on April 9, 1958, of \$175,000.00, and upon refusal of the State to accept a settlement upon remittitur of \$35,000.00, judgment was entered for \$175,000.00 plus interest in the further sum of \$28,520.98, from which judgment the State appealed. However, pending appeal the State paid on June 5, 1958, the sum of \$72,000.00 to the Nobles, this being the highest appraisal placed upon the property by the State. In an opinion filed March 2, 1959, the Supreme Court of the State of Utah held that the evidence supported a judgment of \$140,000.00 with interest and costs. On March 17, 1959, judgment was entered in favor of the Nobles and against the State of Utah for \$95,093.37 as the balance due in the Salt Lake County case.

The Davis County case was settled by stipulation and judgment was entered on March 5, 1957, in the sum of \$1,975.00 in full settlement including all interest, costs and claims of every nature. (Exhibit "2P")

By way of further statement of facts, the respondents quote from the findings of fact of the Trial Court: (R 70)

"That the amount recovered in Civil No. 6132 in Davis County, Utah was \$1,975.00, which sum was paid to the defendants. The amount recovered in Civil No. 105534 in Salt Lake County was \$169,593.37. The total amount recovered from the State of Utah from said condemnation proceedings was the sum of \$171,578.37.

That according to the terms of said agreement between the plaintiffs and defendants, the fee due the plaintiffs is computed as follows:

- (a) 15% of amounts over \$80,000.
to \$90,000. = \$1,500.00
- (b) 25% of amounts over \$90,000.
to \$110,000. = \$5,000.00

- (c) 30% of amounts over \$110,000.
to \$120,000. = \$3,000.00
(d) 50% of amount over \$120,000.
to \$171,578.37 or \$50,578.37 = \$25,789.18
-

Total fee due plaintiff \$35,289.18

That the defendants have paid to the plaintiffs the sum of \$24,038.60, leaving a balance due to the plaintiffs under the terms of said agreement the sum of \$11,250.58."

Counsel for the appellants stated to the Trial Court that there was no dispute about the work done by the respondents (R 24), and that there was no question that the attorneys went to the Supreme Court twice and brought excellent results (R 26).

POINT I

THE CONTRACT FOR EMPLOYMENT OF ATTORNEYS WAS NOT AMBIGUOUS AND AS CONSTRUED BY THE TRIAL COURT, CORRECTLY REFLECTS THE INTENTION OF THE PARTIES.

Respondents acknowledge that if the contract between an attorney and client is ambiguous wherein one of the reasonable interpretations of the contract would result in an injustice to the client, then meaning should be given to the contract which results in doing justice to the client. However, in the instant case, the contract was not ambiguous and the interpretation of the contract as given by the trial court does not work an injustice upon the client, since the client acknowledged that the attorneys' services were substantial and satisfactory and made no claim that the resulting fee to the attorneys was in any way excessive.

The case of *Pinto v. Seely*, 22 Cal. App. 318, 135 P. 43, (App. Br. 8), after stating that any ambiguity should be construed most favorably to the interests of the client also added the following:

"We do not understand, however, that the rule in this behalf is so inflexible that it may be invoked to perpetrate a palpable injustice, or that it calls for a construction of such contract beyond the express covenants of the parties."

The case of *Waugh et al v. Q. & C. Co. et al*, CCA 7th (1926) 16 F. 2d 363 cited by (App. Br. 8), in fact found the agreement fair and unambiguous.

Before considering in detail the case law, we refer to *Webster's New International Dictionary*, Second Edition, 1938, the meaning given to the words "Recover," and "Recovery":

"Recover":

14. LAW. To gain as compensation; to obtain in return for injury or debt; as, to recover damages in trespass; to recover debt and costs in a suit at law; to obtain title to or possession of something by final decree or judgment in a court of law; as to recover lands in ejectment or real action; to gain by legal process; as, to recover judgment against a defendant.

"Recovery":

7. LAW. The obtaining in a suit at law of a right to something by a verdict, decree or judgment of court, esp. by the final one deciding the issues involved; specif. a common recovery. A final recovery is one obtained by a verdict or final decree or judgment. Its total is the sum awarded and does not include interest *after* the verdict or decision.

A layman referring to Webster's Dictionary could easily determine that all interest up to the time of final verdict, judgment or decision is included in the words "recover" or "recovery", and more certainly would be included in the words "amounts recovered" and "any amounts recovered", which being in the plural must embrace interest as well as principal.

POINT II

INTEREST AWARDED IN A CONDEMNATION SUIT IS FOUNDED UPON THE SAME CASES AND REASONING AS INTEREST UPON CONTRACT OBLIGATIONS IN GENERAL.

Respondents do not dispute the contention of the appellants in Point II (App. Br. 9) that interest awarded in a condemnation suit is awarded as a matter of right and not as a matter of judicial discretion, where allowable. This means, however, that interest will be awarded, allowed, and paid, only at such time as the claim for the principal is fully established, and when it is so established the interest becomes as much a part of the recovery as the principal and is included in the final judgment.

The case of *Fell v. Union Pacific Railroad Co.*, 32 Utah 101, 88 P. 1003, cited by the (App. Br. 9) was a suit to recover damages for the injury to livestock which were injured while in transit. The trial court entered judgment for the damages plus interest on the damages from the date of injury, which judgment was affirmed on appeal, the court holding in the last paragraph of its opinion as follows:

“The true test to be applied as to whether interest should be allowed before judgment in a given case or not is, therefore, not whether the damages are unliquidated or otherwise, but whether the injury and consequent damages are complete and must be ascertained as of a particular time and in accordance with fixed rules of evidence and known standards of value, which the court or jury must follow in fixing the amount, rather than be guided by their best judgment in assessing the amount to be allowed for past as well as for future injury, or for elements that cannot be measured by any fixed standards of value. The same rule under the same conditions would of necessity apply to actions for breach of

contract. This is illustrated by some of the California cases, as well as by the Nevada case cited by counsel for appellant. As the case at bar falls clearly within the rule where the amount is computed as of a fixed time, and in accordance with fixed rules of evidence as to value, the court did not err in computing, on the amount of damages found, interest at the legal rate.

The judgment therefore is affirmed, with costs."

In the case of *Oregon Shortline Railroad Co. v. Jones*, 29 Utah 147, 80 Pac. 732, where no occupancy or possession had been taken of the land until after judgment, the landowner contended they were entitled to interest from the date of the summons. The court held that the landowner was not entitled to interest from the date of the summons, but if at all, only from the date of occupancy. We quote from the last paragraph of the opinion of the court:

"To allow appellants' claim of interest to prevail, we are obliged to read something into the statute not found there. Nor does it come within any of the rules of the cases where interest has been allowed. Here there has been no entry or occupation of the property. Nor was there any time prior to the verdict of the jury when the amount of plaintiff's liability had been determined. Nor was there any time when it could have taken possession and given a writ of assistance therefor until final judgment and order of condemnation. And the authorities seem to be that one or more of these things must be shown to entitle the landowner to interest."

In the case of *Kimball v. Salt Lake City*, 32 Utah 253, 90 Pac. 395, where the landowner claimed interest from the city for damages caused by change of grade of a street by the city, the court in following the case of *Fell v. Union Pacific Railroad* allowed interest on damages found as of the date of completion of the change of grade, stating that this allowance of interest on a claim for unliquidated da-

mages is based on the contract principles announced in *Fell v. Union Pacific Railroad Co.*

The case of the *Salt Lake and Utah Railroad Co. v. Schramm et al.*, 56 Utah 53, 189 Pac. 90, the court held that the landowner was entitled to interest from the date of the order of occupancy and not from the date of the commencement of the action, following the case of *Oregon Shortline Railroad Co. v. Jones*, and the Supreme Court ordered the judgment modified to allow interest on the verdict from the date of occupancy rather than the date of commencement of the action.

The foregoing review of the Utah decisions would seem to indicate that interest allowed in condemnation suits is based upon contract principles and that such interest as accrues from the date of occupancy or injury is included in the judgment.

POINT III

THE INTENT OF THE PARTIES AS SHOWN BY THE CONTRACT WAS THAT THE WORDS "AMOUNTS RECOVERED" AND "ANY AMOUNT RECOVERED" IN EFFECT MEAN AMOUNTS COLLECTED, WHETHER INTEREST OR PRINCIPAL.

The appellants seek to exclude all interest on the first \$80,000.00 of the principal, and apparently base their contention upon the unfounded assumption that the State had set aside \$80,000.00 as an award to the defendants prior to condemnation.

As appears from exhibit "3P", Civil No. 105534, the Salt Lake County case, condemnation proceedings were filed June 30, 1955; whereas the agreement with the attorneys was dated January 12, 1956. If, in fact, the appellants had

been offered \$80,000.00 before June 30, 1955, and if the appellants had really intended to exclude interest from the amounts recovered they should have commenced the division of the fees at \$82,400.00 to include interest which had accrued from June 30, 1955, to January 12, 1956, the date of the agreement. Furthermore, the appellants elected to gamble when they refused to accept the \$80,000.00 from the State of Utah by way of settlement. As shown by the record in Civil No. 105534, the State appraisers had appraised the property of the appellants at \$57,000.00 and \$72,000.00 respectively. Thus the appellants had no assurance that they would receive even \$80,000.00 principal and interest. Also, as in all litigation, a lump sum settlement by way of compromise without trial was probable, in which event the settlement figure would have included interest and principal without distinction as to whether interest or principal were being compromised. In fact the Davis County case was settled on March 5, 1957, for \$1,975.00 including interest and costs, (exhibit 2P).

We now review the cases cited by the appellants dealing with contingent fee contracts based upon recovery or similar terms. *Sanders v. Riddich*, 127 Ten. 700, 156 S. W. 464, was a case where the client employed the attorneys in a damage suit wherein no interest was contemplated to be included in the judgment, under an agreement as follows:

"I, W. B. Sanders, hereby employ Marion G. Evans and T. K. Riddich as my attorneys to represent me in my suit against Memphis Street Railway, and I hereby agree that they may retain as their fee one-third of the recovery in case the same is under \$12,000.00 and one-fourth in case the same is \$12,000.00 or over."

The trial court construed the agreement in favor of the attorneys saying that the interest which accrued after

judgment would not be considered part of the recovery to defeat the attorneys one-third fee and require the attorney to take one-fourth. It is to be noted here that at the time the agreement was made the attorneys and client did not anticipate any interest to be included in the recovery, this being a personal injury matter.

The case of *Covert v. Randles* (App. Br. 13) was also decided in favor of the attorneys in a case where the client employed the attorneys to recover approximately \$41,000.00 worth of bonds which were stolen from her and she agreed to pay 8% of the amount recovered up to the sum of \$20,000.00, and 5% of the balance recovered. About \$24,500.00 worth of bonds which included accrued interest, were impounded in the United States District Court at Los Angeles and about \$7,000.00 in the United States District Court for Arizona, leaving about \$10,000.00 in the hands of thieves or persons who had purchased the same from the thieves. The attorneys, by way of compromise before judgment, obtained the bonds from the district court and approximately \$4,000.00 of the other bonds. The client contended they were not entitled to any fee because the word "recovered" required judgment and execution. The court quoted from 53 Corpus Juris 655, Section One, as follows:

"Recover. (sec. 1) A. In Broad General Sense. To collect; to come into possession of; to get, obtain, procure, receive, and the like; ***

"(Sec. 2) B. In Narrower Legal Sense the term has a well defined meaning; and has been variously defined as to be successful in a suit; to collect or obtain the amount, possibly by a suit at law; to have judgment; to obtain a favorable or final judgment; to obtain by course of law; to obtain by judicial action or proceeding, or in any legal manner;

to obtain by means of an action, in contrast to voluntary payment; to obtain title to by final decree or judgment in a court of law; to succeed in an action, or in a law suit; and in this legal sense, it has been held not to include necessarily, or even ordinarily, the actual payment of the money sued for."

The Arizona court did not seek to give the word "recover" the narrow meaning suggested by the text quoted, and stated that the intent of the parties governs, and if it appears from the contract that the parties intended the word "recover" as used therein should mean the same as to collect, "to come into possession of, to get, etc." we should so construe it. The court then affirmed the judgment which granted the attorneys their percentage upon all of the bonds that they recovered, whether by suit or otherwise. Under comment nine, the court stated that the compensation of the attorney should be based on the cash value of the bonds, and not the par value, and as such the cash value of the bonds necessarily included the accrued interest.

The case of *Bassford v. Johnson*, 172 N.Y. 488, 65 N.E. 260 (App. Br. 14) where the landowner agreed to pay the attorney "10% of whatever award may be obtained for my land", the appellate court awarded the attorney 10% of all interest as well as the principal amount of the award. The Bassford case conclusively holds that interest down to date of payment is included in the award for the purposes of the attorneys fee. For the appellants to contend that the instant case should be considered as if an award of \$140,000.00 had been made on July 30, 1955, is to substitute in the contract for the words "amounts recovered" the word "verdict." If the contract had been for a prorated share of the verdict then the reasoning of the appellants would apply. It will be seen in this case that the jury verdict was \$175,000.00, to which interest was to be added; however,

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